IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Electronically Filed Jun 29 2020 12:05 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

WASTE MANAGEMENT OF Supreme Court NEVADA, INC. Case No.: 80841 Appellant,

VS.

WEST TAYLOR STREET, LLC, Second Judicial District Court Respondent. Case No. CV12-02995

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

MARK G. SIMONS, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 5132
SIMONS HALL JOHNSTON PC
6490 S. McCarran Blvd., #F-46
Reno, Nevada 89509
T: (775) 785-0088
F: (775) 785-0087
Email: msimons@shinevada.com

Email: <u>msimons@shjnevada.com</u>
Attorneys for Appellant

i

Docket 80841 Document 2020-23986

2

4

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15 16

17

18

19

20

21 22

23

24

25

26

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

Pursuant to NRAP 28(a)(4), Appellant provides the following jurisdictional statement. This appeal arises from a district court order denying a NRCP 68

Motion for Attorneys' Fees ("Motion") filed by Waste Management of Nevada,

Inc. ("Waste Management") against respondent West Taylor Street, LLC ("WTS").

The district court's Order Denying Waste Management of Nevada, Inc.'s Motion for An Award of Attorneys' fees was filed on March 10, 2020 (the "Order").

Notice of Entry of the Order was filed on March 11, 2020. Waste Management's Notice of Appeal was filed on March 19, 2020.

NRAP 17 ROUTING STATEMENT

Pursuant to NRAP 28(a)(5), Appellant provides the following routing statement. This appeal presents an issue of first impression regarding the interpretation and application of the first factor of a NRCP 68 analysis. This case is also properly before this Court because this appeal raises "as a principal issue a question of statewide public importance".

Specifically, this Court has instructed district courts to analyze and weigh four (4) factors outlined in <u>Beattie v. Thomas</u>, 99 Nev. 579, 588-589, 668 P.2d 268, 274 (1983) in determining whether attorney's fees should be awarded

viii

pursuant to NRCP 68.¹ This appeal seeks to establish a party does not bring a claim in good faith under the first <u>Beattie</u> factor "as a matter of law" when this Court determines the claim contradicts the plain language of a statute.² Alternatively, this appeal seeks to establish a claim does not have "a reasonable basis" when the claim contracts the "plain language" of a statute.³

¹ See e.g., Yamaha Motor Co., U.S.A. v. Arnoult, 114 Nev. 233, 251, 955 P.2d 661, 672–73 (1998) ("Under *Beattie*, the trial court must carefully weigh the following [four] factors in exercising its discretion to award fees under NRCP 68: (1) whether the plaintiff's claim was brought in good faith").

² This argument seeks to establish a bright-line rule that a claim is not asserted in good faith when the claim asserted contradicts the plain language of a statute.

³ This argument seeks to establish that a claim LACKS "a reasonable basis" when the claim asserted contradicts the plain language of a statute.

⁴ This statute also mandates that this provision is to be "liberally construed" so as to award fees and costs. <u>Id</u>.

///

///

issue limited to a NRCP 68 analysis, it appears the Court's determination of the issues on appeal will also have applicability to the interpretation of NRS 18.010(2)(b)'s and NRS 7.085(1)(b)'s provisions.

In addition to the foregoing, this appeal seeks a determination that the district court also erroneously concluded that WTS's claims were brought in good faith on the basis that WTS's lawsuit provided a substantial benefit to the community. Similarly, this appeal seeks a determination that Waste Management's voluntarily release of its garbage liens due to the district court's erroneous judgment is irrelevant to the good faith analysis.

Lastly, this appeal seeks a determination that the district court erred in determining that WTS's rejection of the offer of judgment was reasonable under the circumstances of the case so as to preclude an award of fees to Waste Management under the third <u>Beattie</u> factor.⁵

The district court ruled in favor of Waste Management on the second Beattie prong finding that Waste Management made its Offer of Judgment ("Offer") "in good faith, in both timing and amounts." The district court also ruled in favor of Waste Management on the fourth Beattie factor finding that the attorney's fees sought were "reasonable and justified in amount." The district court's analysis on the second and fourth factors are not at issue in this appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Whether the district court erred in determining that WTS's claims were asserted in good faith in light of this Court's decision in Waste Management of Nev. Inc. v. West Taylor Street, LLC, 135 Nev. 168, 443 P.3d 1115 (2019) ("Waste Management"), in which this Court held as a matter of law WTS's claims were baseless as they contradicted the plain language of NRS 444.520.

- 2. Whether the district court erred in determining that WTS's legally baseless lawsuit benefitted the community so as to constitute good faith satisfying the first of the <u>Beattie</u> factors.
- 3. Whether the district court erred in determining that Waste Management's voluntary release of its garbage liens due to the district court's initial erroneous judgment equated to a finding that WTS's claims were brought in good faith satisfying the first of the <u>Beattie</u> factors.
- 4. Whether the district court erred in determining that WTS's rejection of Waste Management's \$10,000 Offer of Judgment was reasonable under the circumstances of the case precluding an award of fees to Waste Management under the third Beattie factor.

||///

1 2

STATEMENT OF THE CASE⁶

The district court conducted an analysis of the four (4) <u>Beattie</u> factors in denying Waste Management's Motion. The district court erroneously determined that the first <u>Beattie</u> factor weighed in favor of WTS concluding that WTS's claims were brought in good faith. However, the district court entirely ignored this Court's decision in <u>Waste Management</u> in its analysis. Rather, the district court overreached concluding WTS's claims were asserted in good faith without considering the lack of merit and the legally baseless nature of the claims asserted by WTS as determined by this Court.

Further, again entirely ignoring this Court's decision in <u>Waste Management</u>, the district court asserted that WTS's lawsuit was brought in good faith because it "substantially benefitted the community" and that Waste Management voluntarily released its garbage liens. However, the district court erroneously applied the doctrine of substantial benefit and Waste Management's compliance with the district court's erroneous decision is in no way an indicator that the claims were asserted in good faith.⁷

1 2

⁶ For ease of reading, this section will omit appendix citations, but citations will be provided for factual statements in the body of the brief.

⁷ Waste Management's argument on this point can be summarized as compliance with the district court's erroneous decision does not breathe life and vitality into WTS's baseless claims and/or the district court's erroneous decision.

Lastly, the district court also erroneously determined that the third <u>Beattie</u> factor weighed in favor of WTS because the rejection "does not appear to be unreasonable or made in bad faith." The district court's analysis on this prong again ignored this Court's decision in <u>Waste Management</u> and because it was undisputed that WTS: owed money to Waste Management for delinquent waste collection fees, WTS had not sustained any harm and the underlying action was pursued solely to harass Waste Management.

As this brief will demonstrate, WTS's owner and manager, C. Nicholas

Pereos (the attorney appearing on behalf of WTS) pursued his own personal

vendetta against Waste Management seeking to cause Waste Management to spend

significant amounts on litigation even though WTS had sustained no harm and no

compensable damages.⁸ Accordingly, the district court also erroneously ruled that
the third Beattie factor weighed in favor of denying Waste Management recovery

of its attorney's fees under NRCP 68.

PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

WTS originally brought two claims for declaratory relief contending that

Waste Management violated the provisions of NRS 444.520 when it recorded three

⁸ The original garbage liens at issue in this case totaled \$1,754.13 and were for amounts that were properly charged but WTS refused to pay.

(3) garbage liens totaling \$1,754.13 against WTS's property. 9 In addition, WTS brought a claim for slander of title contending that WTS sustained damages as a result of the recordation of the garbage liens.

WTS brought suit claiming that Waste Management's liens were illegally recorded because NRS 444.520(3)'s provisions stating garbage liens "may be foreclosed in the same manner as provided for the foreclosure of mechanics' liens" meant the entire mechanics' lien statutory scheme was incorporated into the garbage lien statutes--not just the specific foreclosure statute that was referenced. In addition, WTS claimed a statute of limitations applied to enforcement of Waste Management's garbage liens even though the liens were expressly stated as "perpetual" liens.

The district court adopted WTS's arguments and ruled Waste Management's three (3) liens were illegally recorded (the "Judgment"). In response to the district court's ruling, Waste Management released its three (3) liens. The district court's Judgment also arbitrarily imposed a 2-year statute of limitations to pursue any foreclosure proceedings under NRS 444.520 even though the garbage lien is defined by statute as "a perpetual lien".

⁹ The procedural background and facts are taken from this Court's decision in Waste Management, 135 Nev. at 169, 443 P.3d at 1116.

Waste Management subsequently appealed the district court's Judgment.

This Court held that the application of NRS 444.520's provision was a matter of law. Waste Management, 135 Nev. at 170, 443 P.3d at 1117 ("We review questions of statutory construction de novo."). This Court then reversed in total the district court's interpretation and application of NRS 444.520. This Court found that NRS 444.520(3)'s provisions were "clear on its face" and that according to the statute's "plain meaning" only the foreclosure statute was incorporated into NRS 444.520(3)'s provisions, not the entirety of the mechanic's lien statutory scheme as argued by WTS.¹⁰

In finding that the district court erred in interpreting the clear and unambiguous language of the statute, and its plain meaning, this Court held:

[T]he district court erred in incorporating into NRS 444.520 the perfections requirements under the mechanics' lien statute as outlined in NRS 108.226, which is separate from NRS 108.239's foreclosure procedure. . . . under the plain language of the garbage lien statute, the perfection requirements of the mechanics' lien statute, or any other requirements that do not involve the foreclosure of a mechanics' lien, are not incorporated. The district court erred when it incorporated anything beyond NRS 108.239 into the garbage lien statute. Accordingly, we hold that the district court erred in concluding that Waste Management needed to record its lien within 90 days of completing the work in accordance with NRS 108.226, and we reverse the district court's order on this ground.

¹⁰ <u>Id</u>. at 171, 443 P.3d at 1117 ("Based upon the statute's plain meaning, the only provision of the mechanics' lien statutes incorporated into NRS 444.520 is NRS 108.239.").

<u>Id</u>. at 171, 443 P.3d at 1117 (emphasis added).

In addition, this Court found that "the district court erred . . . in applying . . . the two-year statute of limitations . . . to the foreclosure of those liens" This Court held that applying a two (2) year statute of limitations to the foreclosure of the garbage lien was erroneous because: "a garbage lien is perpetual, it is not subject to a statute of limitations." <u>Id</u>. at 173, 443 P.3d at 1119. This Court then reversed the district court's Judgment and remanded the case back to the district court for further proceedings "consistent with [the Court's decision.]." <u>Id</u>.

After remand, Waste Management filed its Motion seeking recovery of attorney's fees under NRCP 68 pursuant to its Offer. Due to the district court's denial of the Motion, this appeal follows.

FACTUAL BACKGROUND

- The garbage liens recorded by Waste Management were for a total of \$1,754.13 in unpaid amounts owed by WTS for garbage collection services.
 JA 1218.
- 2. Even though Waste Management fully complied with the garbage lien statute, WTS's claims were premised on the contention Waste Management illegally recorded its garbage liens by not following all the perfection and

recording obligations contained in Nevada's mechanic lien statutes. Waste Management, 135 Nev. at 169, 443 P.3d at 1116.¹¹

- 3. The district court entered summary judgment against Waste Management finding it did not properly record its liens because it failed to record the liens within 90 days of the completion of work as required by the mechanics' lien statutes (the "Judgment"). <u>Id</u>.
- 4. The district court's Judgment also held that Waste Management "could no longer foreclose on its liens because a two-year limitations period applied to the foreclosing on garbage liens." <u>Id</u>.
- As a result of the district court's erroneous decision, Waste
 Management voluntarily released all three of its liens. <u>Id</u>.
- 6. On July 27, 2017, during the pendency of the litigation, Waste Management extended its Offer allowing WTS to have judgment against it in the amount of \$10,000. 5 JA_1215:16-20. The Offer was never accepted and expired according to its terms.

[&]quot;As discussed extensively in this Court's <u>Waste Management</u> decision, Nevada's garbage lien statutes are separate and distinct from Nevada's mechanics' lien statutes. Nevada's garbage lien statutes were enacted "to give waste collection companies a method for collecting delinquent payments for their services." <u>Id.</u> at 168, 443 P.3d at 1116.

- 7. On June 27, 2019, this Court entered its decision in Waste

 Management v. West Taylor Street, LLC, 135 Nev. 168, 173, 443 P.3d 1115, 1119

 (2019) reversing the district court's erroneous Judgment and remanded for further proceedings "consistent with [the Court's decision]."
- 8. Upon remand, Waste Management filed its Motion seeking an award of fees pursuant to the terms of its Offer and NRCP 68 requesting an award of \$69,115.25 in attorneys' fees incurred by Waste Management after the service of the Offer. 5 JA_1045-1098.
- 9. WTS is managed by C. Nicholas Pereos (*i.e.*, he oversees and rents out the duplex owned by WTS). Mr. Pereos' trust is called the Restated 1980 Pereos Trust ("Pereos Trust") and the Pereos Trust is the sole member of WTS. 4 JA_0799.
- 10. Mr. Pereos operates all aspects of WTS's rental business including who to rent to, negotiating and signing leases, contracting for use of Waste Management's services, and receiving and responding to all mail and bills.

 4 JA_0759-760.
- 11. In addition to running WTS, Mr. Pereos makes all decisions for the Pereos Trust. 4 JA_0760-761.
- 12. Even though WTS claimed it sustained and incurred attorneys' fees by retaining Mr. Pereos as its attorney as special damages, it did not. This is

because Mr. Pereos was never formally retained, was never paid and WTS never actually "incurred" any attorneys' fees at all. 4 JA 0799.

- 13. WTS admits it did not sustain any special damages for attorney's fees because Mr. Pereos was "absorbing the time invested" in pursuing WTS's claims against Waste Management without payment or obligation by WTS to pay for his legal services. 5 JA_1107:1-2.
- 14. Mr. Pereos characterized his activities as an "investment" and that he "invested" over \$100,000 of his time in pursuing WTS's claims against Waste Management. 4 JA_743:22-23.¹²
- 15. The \$1,754.13 in dispute was for charges and late fees WTS unilaterally refused to pay. The history of WTS's charges and late fees are undisputed. 2 JA_0306-312.

Waste Management suggests this Court can take judicial notice that investing over \$100,000 in time and effort into a lawsuit over a dispute valued at \$1,754.13 is prima facia bad faith conduct (especially when it is admitted some, if not all, of the \$1,754.13 is actually owed). Lemel v. Smith, 64 Nev. 545, 566, 187 P.2d 169, 179 (1947) ("[Judicial notice] fulfills the object which evidence is designed to fulfill, and makes evidence unnecessary Judicial notice has been applied to a wide range of subjects from the facts of ordinary life to the arts, sciences and professions, confined only to those things which any well informed person would be presumed to know.").

- 16. Mr. Pereos represented he was pursuing WTS's claims because he was "an attorney who could (at this stage of his career) absorb time investment to hold WM accountable." 5 JA_1107:1-2.
- 17. Mr. Pereos' vendetta permeated the underlying litigation with WTS employing the following derogatory comments to further this objective:
 - a. "[T]he indifference maintained by WM in connection with the amount of money owed by the plaintiff and probably other customers as well. They do not want to be accountable to anyone! In turn, their 'indifference', translates to their attitude when it comes to the recording of the lien against Plaintiff's property, and having to respond to these issues if there is a dispute." 3 JA_0562:20-24.
 - b. "WM has an attitude that it does not have to account to anyone when it records a lien and ignores pleas to address this issue." 3 JA_0564:25-26.
 - c. "WM's business culture is to bleed as much money as it can out of its customers to maximize profit." 5 JA_0564:27-28.
 - d. "The culture in Waste Management [is] of bleeding its customers for money" 5 JA 0565:20-21.
 - e. "WM is not responsive to its customer's complaints about billing which probably arises from a corporate attitude by WM that it can get away with their billing practices given the legal expenses that customers would otherwise incur to challenge them." 5 JA 1105:5-8.
 - f. "How many customers can afford to hire an attorney to pursue a case of this nature and hold WM accountable? It would be cost prohibitive! Waste Management is banking on that concept!". 5 JA 1106:25-27.
 - g. Waste Management has "unchecked authority . . . without any accountability." 4 JA 0957:22-23.

¹³ <u>Id</u>. at 170, 443 P.3d at 1117.

- h. Waste Management "is accountable to no one!:" and has "unchecked authority without accountability." 4 JA_0964:1; JA_0966:1.
- i. Waste Management has "no accountability to the voters or anyone else!" 4 JA_0974:15-16.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Management argues that the findings by this Court in Waste

Management required the district court to rule as a matter of law that WTS's

claims were not asserted in good faith. This is because this Court found that

WTS's claims contracted the plain meaning of NRS 444.520(3) and that the

Legislature's designation of a garbage lien as "perpetual" meant that as a matter of
law, no statute of limitations applied. Accordingly, under the doctrine of law of
the case and/or based upon this Court's analysis in Waste Management, the district
court should have held that WTS's claims were not asserted in good faith either as
a matter of law or because there was no reasonable basis supporting the claims.

In support of its position, Waste Management highlights the following findings by this Court in Waste Management:

- 1. "The plain meaning of NRS 444.520(3) is clear on its face." ¹³
- 2. "Based on the definition of foreclosure, the statute's meaning is clear on its face as to which provision of the mechanics lien statutes is

incorporated into the garbage lien statute."14

- 3. "[T]he district court erred in incorporating into NRS 444.520 the perfection requirements under the mechanics' lien statute"¹⁵
- 4. "[U]nder the plain language of the garbage lien statute, the perfection requirements of the mechanics' lien statute . . . are not incorporated."¹⁶
- 5. "The district court erred when it incorporated anything beyond NRS 108.239 into the garbage lien statute."¹⁷
- 6. "[T]he district court erred in concluding that Waste Management needed to record its lien within 90 days of completing the work . . . and we reverse the district court's order on this ground." 18
- 7. "The plain language of NRS 444.520(3) indicates that the lien is perpetual, and therefore the remedy of foreclosure must also be perpetual." 19
- 8. "[T]he district court erred . . . in applying both the lien perfection requirements set forth in NRS 108.226 and the two-year statute of limitations set forth in NRS 11.190(4)(b) to the foreclosure of those liens under NRS 444.520. Since a garbage lien is perpetual, it is not subject to a statute of limitations."²⁰

¹⁴ Id.

^{15 &}lt;u>Id</u>. at 171, 443 P.3d at 1117

¹⁶ Id.

¹⁷ <u>Id</u>.

¹⁸ <u>Id</u>. at 171, 443 P.3d at 1118.

¹⁹ Id. at 173, 443 P.3d at 1119.

²⁰ <u>Id</u>.

Based upon these findings, Waste Management contends that the district court should have determined as a matter of law that WTS's claims were not asserted in good faith under the first prong of the Beattie factors.

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