# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

**Electronically Filed** Jul 28 2020 01:20 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

WASTE MANAGEMENT OF NEVADA, INC.

Supreme Court Case No.: 80841

Appellant,

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

VS.

WEST TAYLOR STREET, LLC

Second Judicial District Court Case No. CV12-02995

Respondent.

# RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

C. NICHOLAS PEREOS, ESQ.

Nevada Bar No. 13

C. NICHOLAS PEREOS, LTD.

1610 Meadow Wood Lane, Suite 202

Reno, Nevada 89502

T: (775) 329-0678

F: (775) 329-6618

Email: <a href="mailto:cnpereos@gmail.com">cnpereos@gmail.com</a>

Attorney for Respondent

i

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

#### VIII. ARGUMENT

# A. Introduction

In a desperate attempt to recover non-recoverable costs that this

Supreme Court ruled were to be absorbed by each party, WM filed a Cost Memorandum on 12/23/19 Christmas Eve. After being "called out" on this conduct, they modified their costs demand. Consistent with its ongoing "scorched-earth" tactics, WM then filed its application for attorney fees on 12/26/19, seeking to collect attorney fees for work beyond the window period The Court denied the attorney fees. WM now permitted for recovery. complains that the Trial Court abused its discretion alleging the statute is not ambiguous, even though the statute does not explain the perpetuity of the lien as it impacts a subsequent purchaser without notice, and that issue was never adjudicated! Furthewrmore, WM does not want anyone to challenge their practices and seeks to have this Court substitute its judgment for the Trial Court.

This legal action is one of first impression. Clearly, NRS 444.520 incorporates mechanic lien statutes-Chapter 108-relating to foreclosure of the garbage lien. At the time of the Complaint, it was not clear how Chapter 108 applies. It was only after this Court ruling that a distinction between the concept of "perfection of lien" versus "foreclosure of the lien" was applied to

the statute. The attorneys for WM never made that distinction in any argument or brief. Appendix Vol 1, Pg 76-117; Vol 4 Pg 877. This case also involved other issues of first impression concerning the State delegating its enforcement powers to a profit-making corporation.

The initial success in this lawsuit benefitted more than WTS, WM is a private corporation hired for garbage collection that holds a monopoly over the entire community of garbage users, most of whom have not enough power or money to contest improperly imposed charges, fees, or liens, which is why WM enlisted the help of Republic Disposal Vol 5, Pg 979. Republic Disposal raised new issues. WM now seeks to have this Court substitute its judgment and discretion for that of the Trial Court, further impeding the ability of property owners, homeowners and tenants who are required by law to use WM's services to challenge its inaccurate and excessive bills, late fees, and other improper business practices.

# 1. <u>Language of the Statute</u>

WM argues that the clear language of the statutes can only lead to the conclusion that the filing of this lawsuit was baseless. Although this

factor is not solely determinative, addressing the statute may be informative. Before this Court can conclude that the lawsuit was baseless, one would have to decide if any money was owed to WM supporting their numerous liens. Given the fact that WM elected not to have the lower Court make that decision as it abandoned its claim for money owed coupled with discharging the liens, one can only now guess if the liens were legitimate and the lawsuit baseless?? After all, no one can contest the fact that the Trial Court could strike down the liens if money was not owed! Notwithstanding, there are problems with the statute that would necessitate judicial intervention. The statute indicates that the unpaid fees represent a "perpetual lien" but the statute does not address the priority of this perpetual lien before its perfection! NRS 444.520. The statute does not address the impact of this lien on bona fide purchaser without notice. The statute states that the garbage lien is superior to other liens but then goes on to require its perfection. How do you reconcile this statute's language of superiority with NRS 111.315 - 111.325, which also reqires recording of liens for perfection, or the provisions of NRS 105, which provides for recording of public utilities' liens in order to perfect them. The statute is silent! The statute

does discuss the necessity for perfecting the lien. The statute indicates that the lien in not "effective" until it is perfected. How is that language reconciled with the earlier language stating that it is superior to all liens or NRS 111.315, etc., or NRS 105? Therein lies inconsistencies in the statute. In one paragraph it indicates the lien can not be extinguished by the foreclosure of an earlier lien but another paragraph indicates the lien is not effective until it is perfected. In other words, inherent in the language of the statute exists ambiguities.

The Supreme Court held that the notice and filing requirements for mechanic's liens under NRS 108 did not apply to NRS 444, but did not indicate what notice or filing requirements should be applied. WM tries to argue that WM's liens are both perpetual and have priority over all other liens regardless of whether they are recorded or perfected under NRS 444.520(4), which would be unprecedented for any types of liens and inconsistent with the need to perfect! As noted above, NRS 105 requires the filing of public utility liens in order to establish their priority and effectiveness.

NRS 105.040 Effective Date of Perfection or Notice.

1. The perfection or notice provided by a security instrument filed pursuant of NRS 105.030 is effective from the date of presentation for filing until the interest granted as security is released by the filing of a termination statement or a release or

reconveyance of all or a part of the property signed by the secured party or trustee. No renewal, refiling or continuation statement is required to continue this effectiveness.

2. Perfection or notice provided by a security instrument covering real or personal property located in this state which was filed with the Secretary of State or recorded in the office of a county recorder before October 1, 1995, or which was filed or recorded before March 1, 1967, in compliance with the law in effect at the time of its filing or recordation, remains effective for the period provided by 7 the law in effect at the time of its filing or recordation.

3. Such an instrument may be filed anew pursuant to NRS 105.030, and if so filed has the effect given to security instruments originally filed pursuant to NRS 105.010 to 105.080, inclusive. The priority of such a filing dates from the time that the security interest was first filed with the Secretary of State or recorded in the office of a county recorder and not from the date the instrument is filed anew pursuant to NRS 105.030.

In Leven v Frey, 168 P.3d 712, 716 (2007), the Court held:

When construing an ambiguous statutory provision, this court determines the meaning of the words used in a statute by "examining the context and the spirit of the law or the causes which induced the Legislature to enact it. The entire subject matter and policy may be involved as an interpretive aid." Thus, in interpreting a statute, this court considers the statute's multiple legislative provisions as a whole. Additionally, statutory interpretaition should not render any part of a statute meaningless, and a statute's language "should not be read to produce absurd or unreasonable results."

The fact that the Supreme Court ruled that the rules for perfection of a mechanics lien under NRS 108 does not apply to a garbage lien under NRS 444 does not remove any and all requirement for the perfection of such a lien in order to enforce it. Such an interpretation would render NRS 444.520(4) null and void.

In discussing the effectiveness of a late-filed tax lien, the court in

State Dep't of Taxation v Kawahara, 131 Nev. Adv. Op. 42, 351 P.3d 746, 748 (2015) held:

At common law, lien priority depends upon the time that liens attach or become perfected: "first in time, first in right." 51 Am.Jr.2d Liens § 70 (2011). Statutes may modify or abolish the "first in time, first in right" rule. Id. Under NRS 360.473(2), a tax "lien has the effect and priority of a judgment lien." This court has acknowledged that "a judgment creditor is not within the class designated by the recording statute for protection against an unrecorded conveyance." Sturgill v Indus. Painting Corp. of Nev., 82 Nev. 61, 64, 410 P.2d 759, 761 (1966). Here because the Department's tax lien is fiven the effect of a judgment lien, NRS 360.473(2), the Department is not protected by Nevada's recording statutes, Sturgill, 82 Nev. At 64, 410 P.2d at 761. Because Nevada's recording statutes do not protect the Department against unrecorded vonveyances, the rule applicable to this case if the common-law rule of "first in time, first in right." The Kawaharas' deed of trust was valid and attached in 2009, when their interest was created. The Department's tax lien certificates were filed, and thereby attached, in 22010. See NRS 360.473(2). Therefore, the Kawaharas' deed of trust has priority over the Department's tax lien.

There is nothing in NRS 444, or in Nevada's statutory scheme in general, that would allow Waste Management to claim priority of a lien without first requiring the perfection of such lien. The fact that NRS 444 did not specify an existing statutory method of perfection does not mean that Waste Management, like the Department of Taxation, is not bound by the general statutes regulating the filing of real property liens.

The facts demonstrate the account was resolved in July 2007.

Appendix Vol 5, Pg 1123/1125-1130. Notwithstanding this resolution, WM

recorded a lien. WM also sought to collect garbage fees when the unit was vacant. Appendix Vol 5, Pg 1150-1151. The Court never addressed these issues given the later abandonment of WM to pursue garbage fees. In other words, there has been no adjudication of these issues nor has WM demonstrated a lack of merit concerning the legitimacy of these factual issues. In fact, WM acknowledges that a dispute existed. Appendix Vol 1, Pg 108-109. The argument that the filing of the lawsuit was baseless ignores the facts of this case but WM seeks to have the Court focus on arguments of counsel and penalize counsel seeking judicial intervention for a resolution of this dispute. In other words, the case involves more than just the issue concerning the language of the statute but also the facts giving rise to the recording of the lien.

WM's position in this Appeal is that the statute is clear and unambiguous. However, that is inconsistent with its prior position to the Court. The net effect of the Supreme Court decision is to provide WM with an indefinite period in which to pursue a lawsuit to collect the debt. WM never took that position. Appendix Vol 1, Pg 0092. The decision of the Supreme Court was that the statute only incorporated foreclosure requirement of NRS

108.239. WM position to the Trial Court was that NRS 444.520 incorporated the manner of foreclosure set forth in the Mechanic's Lien Statutes. Appendix Vol 1, Pg 0093. The decision of this Court concludes there is no deadline under the statute to file its lien. However, WM acknowledged to the Trial Court they were not arguing "no deadline" to file the garbage lien. Appendix Vol 1, Pg 0094. In other words, WM's counsel did not previously share the perception today that the statute was clear and unambiguous! More importantly, how does this "no deadline" reconcile with NRS 111.315, etc!

This Court went on to observe that the lower Court relied upon the case of *State v Yellow Jacket Silver Mining Company*, 14 Nev 220 (1879). In its decision, this Court declared the Yellow Jacket decision was outdated and no longer precedent observing that Nevada now has one action rule. There are no prior decisions of this Court distancing itself from Yellow Jacket or overruling it based on the one action rule, but WM would have this Court now believe that use of Yellow Jacket case for precedent was also baseless. In *Nev. Yellow Cab Corp. v. Eight Judicial District Court*, 132 Nev. Adv. Op. 77, 383 P.3d 246, 252-3 (2016), the court noted that "[i]t is not the duty of this court

to determine whether rules adopted in statutory amendments apply retroactively based on equitable factors." WM has cited no factors, equitable or otherwise, that show that WTS acted improperly in citing the Yellow Jacket case in analyzing the language of NRS 444.520.

In summary, WM argues the filing of the lawsuit was baseless given the decision of this Court as "WTS claimed the statute of limitation applied to enforcement of WM's garbage lien even though the liens were expressly stated as perpetual liens". Opening Brief, Pg 4, Line 12. The issue isn't the perpetual nature of the lien but its effectiveness (perfection) and that statute declares the lien is <u>not effective</u> until it is perfected. How does this impact intervening lien claimants or a bona fide purchasers without notice? It is disturbing that we are now going to revisit NRS 444.520 when the issue before the Court is the discretion of the Trial Judge! The issue in the case below was also the debt if any!

# 2. <u>Appellant Must Demonstrate Abuse of Discretion</u>

In the Trial Court's Order Denying Attorney Fees, the Trial Court clearly and concisely examined the application for NRCP 68 and the factors set

forth in *Beatty v Thomas*, 99 Nev. 579 (1983) to determine whether an award of attorney fees was warranted, and the factors set forth in *Brunzell v Golden Gate Nat. Bank*, 85 Nev. 345 (1969) to determine whether the amount of fees sought were reasonable. The judge noted that "the District Court has broad discretion to grant the request for attorney fees, so long as all appropriate factors are considered. *Yamaha Motor Co. U.S.A. v ArnoultI*, 114 Nev. 233, 252, fn. 16 (1998)." The Trial Court first concluded that "Unlike most private parties, WTS was able to afford litigation and successfully fought to have the liens removed. As such the Court finds that WTS's claim was brought in good faith after discussing the attempts to resolve the issue without litigation.

In regard to the second Beatty factor, the Court concluded that "WTS did not have to accept the Offer as settlement is voluntary. WTS's decision to reject the offered amount, after years of ongoing litigation, does not appear to be unreasonable or made in bad faith." The Court also concluded an award was not justified under the circumstances of the case which was played out by the numerous appeal attempts! While WTS disagrees with the Trial Court's analysis concerning the amount of the fees, there is no question that

the Court's analysis was made after considering all the appropriate factors in this case.

In MEI-GSR Holdings, LLC v Peppermill, 416 P.3d 249 (2018),

this Court noted that upon appeal, it will examine the District Court's analysis and application of the *Beattie* and *Brunzell* factors.

"Although explicit findings with respect to these factors are preferred, the District Court's failure to make explicit findings is not a per se abuse of discretion." Wynn v Smith, 117 Nev. 6, 13, 16 P.3d 424, 428 (2001). "Instead, the District Court need only demonstrate that it considered the required factors, and the award must be supported by substantial evidence." Logan v Abe, 131 Nev. 260, 266, 350 P. 3d 1139, 1143 (2015).

Here, the District Court's order awarding attorney fees to Peppermill commented favorably on the quality of the work by the attorneys for both parties, recognized that the case involved complex issues regarding the NTSA, and provided that it has considered the necessary documents and enumerated factors under *Beattie* and *Brunzell*. The parties also extensively argued the factors below. Finally, Peppermill submitted documentation of its attorneys' invoices. Accordingly, we conclude that the District Court demonstrated that it considered the required factors. See *Logan*, 131 Nev. At 266-67, 350 P.3d at 1143; *Uniroyal Goodrich Tire Co. v Mercer*, 111 Nev. 318, 324, 890 P.2d 785, 789 (1995), superseded by statute on other grounds as stated in RTTC Commc'ns, LLC v Saratoga Flier, Inc. 121 Nev. 34, 110 P.3d 24 (2005), Upon review of the record, we further conclude that the District Court's award of attorney fees is supported by substantial evidence. See *Yamaha Motor Co. v Arnoult*, 114 Nev. 233, 252 n.16, 955 P.2d 661 (1998) (providing that "no one factor under *Beattie* is determinative"); see also *Schwartz v Estate of Greenspun*, 110 Nev. 1042, 1049, 881 P.2d 638, 642 (1994) (providing that the District Court "need not ... make explicity findings as to all of the factors where support for an implicit ruling regarding one or more of the factors is clear on the record"). Id at 258-9.

"(A) District Court's award of attorney fees will not be overturned

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